**STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II**

RECEIVED

05-09-2018

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

**Appeal No. 2018AP000151
Washington County Circuit Court Case Nos.2017CV353**

CITY OF WEST BEND,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIK J. WILLE,

Defendant-Appellant.

**AN APPEAL FROM THE JUDGEMENT OF
CONVICTION AND OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING
DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR
SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE IN THE CIRCUIT
COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, THE
HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING**

**THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-
APPELLANT ERIK J. WILLE**

**By: Walter A. Piel, Jr.
Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant
State Bar No. 01023997**

**Piel Law Office

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did City of West Bend Officer Behagen possess the requisite level of suspicion to stop Mr. Wille's based solely on a report a caller saw an open beer can in the vehicle?

The trial court answered: Yes.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because this is an appeal within Wis. Stats. Sec. 752.31(2), the resulting decision is not eligible for publication. Because the issues in this appeal may be resolved through the application of established law, the briefs in this matter should adequately address the arguments; oral argument will not be necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Erik J. Wille, (Mr. Wille) was charged in the City of West Bend, Washington County, Wisconsin, with having operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operated a motor with a prohibited alcohol concentration contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a) and (b) on November 10, 2016. The case originally started in Mid-Moraine Municipal Court. Mr. Wille, by counsel, having entered a not guilty plea on December 19, 2016. A court trial and motion hearing were held in municipal court on June 9, 2017, the Court, the Honorable Steven Cain, Judge, Mid-Moraine Municipal court, presiding. On that date, the Court denied the defendant's suppression motion and found Mr. Wille guilty of both the operating while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. By counsel on June 12, 2017, Mr. Wille filed a Notice of Appeal of the municipal court's decision to the Washington County Circuit Court, paid the appropriate fees, and requested a de novo review. (R.1:1-3). On July 19, 2017, the defense filed a motion challenging the stop and detention. (R.23:1-2). A hearing on said motion was held on September 13, 2017, the Honorable Todd K. Martens, Judge, Washington

County Circuit Court, presiding. For reasons stated on the record, the court denied the defendant's suppression motion. (R.45:12-14/App.7-9). A written order denying Mr. Wille's motion was signed and filed on January 19, 2018. (R.37:1/App.1). A trial to the court was held on January 10, 2018. On that date, the Court, the Honorable Todd K. Martens, Judge, presiding, found Mr. Wille guilty of both operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration in violation of Wis. Stat. §§346.63(1)(a) and (b), respectively.

Mr. Wille timely filed a Notice of Appeal on January 19, 2018. The appeal stems from the judgment of conviction, and the court order denying Mr. Wille's motion for suppression of evidence.

The pertinent facts to this appeal were adduced at the September 13, 2017 motion hearing through the testimony of West Bend police officer Timothy Behagen. Officer Behagen testified that he had been an officer with the City of West Bend for two years and eight months. Behagen testified that on November 10, 2016 at approximately 7:55 p.m., he received a call from an employee at the Wendy's in the city of West Bend

indicating that two individuals had open beers in a vehicle in the drive-thru. (R.45:4-5/App.2-3). The caller described the vehicle as a blue Honda Civic.

Officer Behagen responded to the Wendy's, and observed Mr. Wille's vehicle. The vehicle was slightly pulled forward from the final drive-thru window. The vehicle was running. Officer Behagen then parked his squad and exited and walked toward the Honda Civic. (R.45:8/App.4). Behagen walked toward the vehicle, and shined his flashlight at the vehicle. *Id.* As he initially walked toward the vehicle, he gave no commands. However, as he was approaching, the vehicle started to move approaching a curve in the drive-thru. *Id.*

As the vehicle started to move, Officer Behagen yelled "stop the vehicle". (R.45:8/App.4). At first the driver did not respond. Officer Behagen once again commanded the driver to stop the vehicle. The second time, Mr. Wille and Behagen "locked eyes" in the rear view mirror and Mr. Wille stopped the vehicle. (R.45:9/App.5).

This was the extent of the testimony at the motion hearing. The City did not produce the citizen witness, and aside from the report of an open beer can in the vehicle, there was no testimony as to the location of the can, whether the occupants

were drinking out of the can or whether the can was full, partially full or empty.

Defense counsel argued the evidence adduced was insufficient to establish a violation of the open intoxicant statute, and insufficient to stop Mr. Wille's vehicle. (R.45:12/App.7). The City argued that the officer had ample information to initiate the stop. (R.45:11/App.6). The Court found that reasonable inferences that could be drawn were sufficient to justify the stop. (R.45:12-14/App.7-9). The court denied the motion. *Id.* A written order denying the motion was entered on January 19, 2018. (R.37:1/App.1).

Mr. Wille timely appealed after the Court found him guilty of both operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a) and (b), respectively. The appeal herein stems from the court Order denying Mr. Wille's motion for suppression of evidence. Mr. Wille timely filed a Notice of Appeal on January 19, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Investigative traffic stops, regardless of how brief in duration, are governed by [the] constitutional reasonableness requirement” under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶¶ 12-14, 241 Wis.2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. Review of a circuit court’s denial of a suppression motion presents a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶19, 285 Wis.2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. The court employs the clearly erroneous standard when reviewing the trial court’s findings of historical fact. *State v. Smith*, 2018 WI 2, 379 Wis.2d 86, 905 N.W.2d 353. However, whether a seizure has occurred, and, if so, whether it passes statutory and constitutional muster are questions of law subject to de novo review. *Id* at ¶9

ARGUMENT

A. OFFICER BEHAGEN DID NOT HAVE THE REQUISITE LEVEL OF SUSPICION TO STOP MR. WILLE’S VEHICLE BASED SOLELY ON A REPORT ALLEGING AN OPEN BEER IN THE VEHICLE

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I sec 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect

individuals against unreasonable seizures. An officer must possess reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated to justify a stop. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶30, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. To pass constitutional muster, an investigative stop must be supported by a reasonable suspicion grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts that an individual is or was violating the law. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶8, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. A “seizure” of “person” within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment occurs when an officer temporarily detains an individual during a traffic stop. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 809-10 (1996). An investigatory stop passes constitutional muster if the police possess reasonable suspicion that a violation has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed. *State. v. Waldner*, 206 Wis.2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). This standard requires that the stop be based on something more than an “inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or ‘hunch.’” *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968).

To constitutionally effectuate a traffic stop, an officer’s suspicion must be based on "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts,

reasonably warrant the intrusion." *Id.* at 21. "The determination of reasonableness is a common sense test. The crucial question is whether the facts would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 *citing State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). The plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that an investigative stop is reasonable. *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis.2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973).

Wis. Stat. §346.935 makes it unlawful among other things to (1) drink alcohol in a vehicle "when the vehicle is upon a highway", and (2) "...possess on his or her person, in a privately owned motor vehicle upon a public highway, any bottle or receptacle containing alcohol beverages or nitrous oxide if the bottle or receptacle has been opened, the seal has been broken or the contents of the bottle or receptacle has been partially removed or released." Highway is defined in Wis. Stat. §340.01(22) and does not include the parking lot or drive-thru of a business that is open to the public for use of the motor vehicles. (Wis.Stat. §346.61 would include in the definition of highway all premises held out to the public for use of their

motor vehicle, but that section is only applicable to Wis. Stat. §§346.62 to 346.64).

Thus, one could not violate the open intoxicant statute in the Wendy's parking lot area. The area is not a public highway. More importantly, the record is silent as to where the open beer cans were located (Were they in the cupholders, on the floor, in the back seat, in the occupants hands or in other close proximity to the driver (A shot glass in close proximity to the driver, with other indicators gave the officer reasonable suspicion that the defendant was committing a violation. *State v. Bons*, 2007 WI App 124, 301 Wis.2d 227, 731 N.W.2d 367). The record is unclear if the occupants actually were drinking from the cans, or if the citizen witness simply observed cans in the car. Furthermore, the record is silent as to whether the cans were empty or if the cans had part of the contents removed.

Additionally, there were no other suspicious relevant factors that might have suggested impaired driving. The contact occurred at 7:55 p.m., not near bar close. See *State v Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶32, 317 Wis.2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551 (time of night is a relevant factor in an OWI investigation.) Furthermore, the caller did not report that the driver appeared impaired, or observe erratic driving.

The City has the burden to establish that the investigative stop is reasonable. Here, the record is insufficient to support Officer Behagen's stop of Mr. Wille's vehicle. Based on the evidence in the record, a reasonable officer in Officer Behagen's position would not have believed that Mr. Wille was probably driving a vehicle on a highway with an open container in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.935. Officer Behagen did not have the requisite reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Wille as he had nothing more than an unparticularized and inchoate hunch. Because of this, the stop does not pass constitutional muster.

CONCLUSION

Because Officer Behagen did not possess the requisite level of suspicion to stop Mr. Wille's vehicle, the trial court erred in denying Mr. Wille's suppression motion. The Court should vacate the judgment of conviction and reverse the trial court's order.