RECEIVED

06-07-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

City of West Bend, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 18-AP-151

Erik J. Wille, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER AND JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent JOHNATHAN G. WOODWARD State Bar No. 1056307 P.O. Box 104 Grafton, Wisconsin 53024-0104 Telephone (262) 377-0600 Facsimile (262) 377-6080 jgw@housemanlaw.com

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 2016 at about 7:50 p.m., Wille, with one passenger in his car, drove to the drive-thru at the Wendy's restaurant in West Bend. (R. 29:4.) When Wille was at one of the drive-thru windows, a Wendy's manager saw an open beer in Wille's center cupholder, and also saw Wille's passenger had an open beer between his legs. (R. 29:5.) The manager called the police: "I'm the manager at the Wendy's in West Bend, and I have a car in the drivethru; both the driver and the passenger have beers open in the car." (R. 28.)¹ The Wendy's manager identified herself by first name to the dispatcher and provided her telephone number. (*Id.*) Officer Timothy Behagen was dispatched to Wendy's. (R. 45:4.) Officer Behagen could see the dispatcher's notes on his in-squad computer, which read as follows:

¹ The audio recording of the manager's call to police was not transcribed during the motion hearing, but a compact disc containing the recording was offered as evidence at the hearing and is part of the record.

Vehicle in drive thru, driver and passenger have open beer in car, blue 4 Civic, 278xxx²/WI Caller: K_____262-xxx-xxxx³

(R. 45:5-6, R. 27.) The officer also received a voice dispatch over the police radio with substantially similar information. (R. 45:4-5.) Officer Behagen arrived less than three minutes after being dispatched. (R. 27.) After the officer arrived and parked his squad car, Wille's car began to drive forward. (R. 45:8.) Officer Behagen, now on foot, yelled "stop the vehicle" twice and flashed his flashlight at the car. (*Id.* at 8-9.) The car stopped after moving forward about 20 feet. (*Id.* at 9.)

Officer Behagen made contact with Wille, noting two empty beer cans at Wille's feet. (R. 29:4.) Wille's speech was slow and slurred, and Wille had balance issues when getting out of the car. (*Id.*) Wille performed poorly on field sobriety tests. (R. 29:6-7.) Officer Behagen arrested Wille on suspicion of driving while under the influence of an intoxicant. (R. 29:8.) Wille consented to a blood test; analysis of Wille's blood revealed a blood alcohol concentration of 0.216%. (R. 29:1, 8, 10, 13.)

Officer Behagen issued Wille uniform traffic citations for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence, operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, and possession of an open

² This is the license plate number of Wille's car, which is partially redacted here. ³ These are the first name and phone number of the Wendy's manager, which are partially redacted here.

intoxicant in a motor vehicle; the officer also cited Wille's passenger for possession of an open intoxicant. (R. 1:3; R. 29:4.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The citations were set for trial in municipal court, where Wille moved to suppress evidence, arguing that Officer Behagen lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Wille's vehicle. (R. 4.) The municipal court denied Wille's suppression motion and found Wille guilty of the OWI and PAC citations⁴. (*Id.*) Wille appealed the convictions to circuit court, requesting *de novo* proceedings. (R. 1:1.) Wille filed a motion to suppress evidence, arguing that Officer Behagen lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Wille's vehicle. (R. 23.) The circuit court held a hearing and denied Wille's motion. (R. 45.) At a bench trial, the City and Wille stipulated that the City's witnesses would testify consistent with their earlier written reports and/or statements⁵. (R. 29.) The circuit court reviewed the stipulated testimony, and on that basis found Wille guilty of the OWI and PAC citations, and affirmed the sentence previously imposed by the municipal court. Wille appeals.

⁴ The record does not include the disposition of the open intoxicant citation. ⁵ In criminal cases, a defendant may enter a plea of guilty or no contest without forfeiting or waiving his or her right to appeal an earlier denial of a suppression motion. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10). No statutory counterpart exists for non-criminal traffic cases, so a trial is held in some form to preserve the appellate issue.

ARGUMENT

I. OFFICER BEHAGEN HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP WILLE'S CAR

A Wendy's manager, who gave police her first name and phone number, called police to report that there was a car in the drive-thru whose occupants had open beers. This report was sufficient to provide the responding officer with reasonable suspicion to stop the car and investigate. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court.

In reviewing a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence, the circuit court's findings of fact are to be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous; the application of the law to those factual findings are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10 ¶ 26, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 N.W.2d 619.

Police may stop a vehicle and temporarily detain its occupants when an officer has a reasonable suspicion of a noncriminal traffic violation. *State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78 ¶ 20, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560, *citing State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79 ¶ 30, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. To meet the reasonable suspicion threshold, an officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the stop. *Floyd*, *supra*, at ¶ 20. An officer may conduct a traffic stop if the officer has reasonable suspicion of a traffic violation that "has been or will be committed." *State v. Popke*, 2009

WI 37 ¶ 11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 767 N.W.2d 569, *citing State v*. *Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996).
Wis. Stat. § 346.935(3) prohibits open intoxicants in motor

vehicles:

The owner of a privately owned motor vehicle, or the driver of the vehicle if the owner is not present in the vehicle, shall not keep, or allow to be kept in the motor vehicle when it is upon a highway any bottle or receptacle containing alcohol beverages or nitrous oxide if the bottle or receptacle has been opened, the seal has been broken or the contents of the bottle or receptacle have been partially removed or released. This subsection does not apply if the bottle or receptacle is kept in the trunk of the vehicle or, if the vehicle has no trunk, in some other area of the vehicle not normally occupied by the driver or passengers. A utility compartment or glove compartment is considered to be within the area normally occupied by the driver and passengers.

The dispatch received by Officer Behagen contained ample specific, articulable facts to give Officer Behagen reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop. First, the call came from a manager at Wendy's. (R. 45:6.) From this, the officer could reasonably infer that the manager had the opportunity to make an eyewitness observation of the inside of the suspect car when it was at the drive thru window. Second, the information was reasonably specific as to the observations made: that there was a driver and a passenger, and they both had "open beers." (R. 27.) Third, the report

identified the vehicle's type ("4", short for "4-door"), color (blue), model (Civic) and license plate number. (R. 27, R. 45:5.)

When "an average citizen tenders information to police, the police should be permitted to assume they are dealing with a credible person" absent contrary information. *State v. Sisk*, 2001 WI App 182 ¶ 9, 247 Wis. 2d 443, 634 N.W.2d 877, *quoting State v. Kerr*, 181 Wis. 2d 372, 381, 511 N.W.2d 586 (1994). "[W]e view citizens who purport to have witnessed a crime as reliable, and allow the police to act accordingly, even though other indicia of reliability have not yet been established." *Sisk, supra*, at ¶ 9, *quoting State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21 ¶ 36, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. There are no facts here to suggest the manager or her report was untrustworthy, so Officer Behagen was entitled to rely upon it.

Wille argues that because the manager's call did not contain additional information about the beer cans—such as their precise location within the vehicle, the amount of liquid in the cans, or whether anyone was seen drinking from them—the tip was not sufficient. (A. Br. at 8.) Wille's argument misses the mark. Whether anyone was drinking from the cans is immaterial; § 346.935(3) makes no reference to drinking. "Keep[ing]" an open container in the passenger compartment is sufficient to constitute a violation of § 346.935(3). Reasonable suspicion does not require that a citizen witness provide enough factual detail to make a *prima facie* case. Although additional information about the precise location of the

cans or whether there was liquid in them might in some cases be necessary to prove a violation of the statute to the requisite burden of proof, it is not necessary to reach the threshold of reasonable suspicion. The relevant question is whether the officer had enough particularized information to justify stopping the car to investigate further. The information the Wendy's manager provided to the dispatcher, which was in turn provided to Officer Behagen, was sufficiently detailed and particular to give rise to reasonable suspicion of a violation.

Ultimately, Wille argues Officer Behagen was simply operating on an "unparticularized and inchoate hunch." (A. Br. at 9.) Officer Behagen did not stop Wille because Behagen had a "hunch" that Wille might have open beers in the car; rather, Officer Behagen stopped Wille because a reliable citizen called police to report she saw Wille and his passenger did, in fact, have open beers in the car.

As part of the reasonable suspicion analysis, the officer was entitled to rely on the facts before him, as well as reasonable inferences from those facts. Although Wille is correct that the Wendy's drive-thru is not a public highway, the circuit court correctly noted that one would have to travel on a public highway to get to Wendy's. (R. 45:13.) Reasonable suspicion may exist of a traffic violation that "has been or will be committed." *Popke, supra*, at ¶ 11. It was, therefore, objectively reasonable for the officer to

infer that the Wille had driven to Wendy's on a public highway, and was also going to drive away on a public highway.

Officer Behagen's stop of Wille's car was based on specific, articulable facts that would lead any reasonable police officer to believe Wille had violated and/or was about to violate the law prohibiting keeping open intoxicants in motor vehicles on public highways. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court.

CONCLUSION

A Wendy's manager called police to say she saw Wille and his passenger with open beers in Wille's car as it proceeded through the drive-thru. The manager gave police her name, her phone number, a description of the car, and its license plate number. This report provided reasonable suspicion for the officer to conduct an investigatory stop to determine whether there was a violation of Wisconsin law prohibiting keeping open intoxicants in motor vehicles. The circuit court properly denied Wille's motion to suppress evidence of drunk driving obtained after the stop.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Wille's suppression motion and the resulting convictions. Respectfully submitted June 6, 2018.

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent